# RECEIVED

01-03-2014

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

#### DISTRICT IV

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Case No. 2013AP911-CR

JOHN M. LATTIMORE,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL OF JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POST-CONVICTION MOTIONS, ENTERED IN THE LA CROSSE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE TODD BJERKE, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

COLE DANIEL RUBY Attorney at Law State Bar #1064819

# Martinez & Ruby, LLP

144 4<sup>th</sup> Ave, Suite 2 Baraboo, WI 53913 (608) 355-2000

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

# **

# STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY ALLOW OTHER ACTS EVIDENCE OF A SECOND SEXUAL ASSAULT ALLEGATION THAT SERVED NO REAL PURPOSE OTHER THAN DEMONSTRATING PROPENSITY TO COMMIT SEXUAL ASSAULT?

Although it initially severed count 3 on the defendant's motion, the trial court later ruled that those allegations were admissible as other acts evidence under sec. 904.04(2), which led to the allegations being re-joined for trial.

2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY EXCLUDE EVIDENCE OF A THREAT MADE BY AN ALLEGED VICTIM'S

# BROTHER AGAINST THE DEFENDANT, EVEN AFTER THE STATE OPENED THE DOOR AT TRIAL?

The trial court held that the defense could ask witnesses about their knowledge of the threat, but the defense could not admit the actual threat as evidence. Despite a State's witness mischaracterizing the content of the threat at trial, the court still precluded evidence of the actual threat.

# 3. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY ALLOW INADMISSIBLE CHARACTER EVIDENCE DESIGNED TO ELICIT SYMPATHY FOR THE ALLEGED VICTIM?

The trial court found that the character evidence was admissible.

4. DID TRIAL COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO **SUFFICIENTLY OBJECT** TO THE **IRRELEVANT** AND **PREJUDICIAL** CHARACTER **EVIDENCE** REGARDING S.M., AS WELL AS FAILING TO SUBMIT SIGNIFICANT IMPEACHING EVIDENCE **REGARDING S.M.'S MOTIVE TO LIE,** VIOLATE THE DEFENDANT'S RIGHT TO **EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL?** 

The trial court found that the character evidence was admissible and that trial counsel did not perform ineffectively.

5. WAS THE REAL CONTROVERSY NOT FULLY TRIED BECAUSE THE JURY DID NOT HEAR CRUCIAL EVIDENCE REGARDING S.M.'S MOTIVE TO LIE, AND BECAUSE THE ALLOWED JURY WAS TO HEAR **IRRELEVANT AND PREJUDICIAL OTHER CHARACTER** EVIDENCE, ACTS AND ENTITLING THE DEFENDANT TO A NEW **TRIAL IN THE INTEREST OF JUSTICE ?** 

The trial court held that the real controversy was fully tried.

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

The appellant does not request oral argument, but is fully willing to provide oral argument if the court deems it helpful in addressing the merits of the appellant's claims.

#### STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

The appellant believes publication is warranted based on two of the issues involved. First, the appellant believes publication is warranted pursuant to Wis. Stat. sec. 809.23(1)(a)5 because this case involves a substantial and continuing public interest – reaffirming the holdings of *State v. Sullivan*, 216 Wis. 2d 768, 576 N.W.2d 30 (1998) placing great emphasis on the similarity of facts between the prior bad acts and the underlying charges in order for the probative value to outweigh prejudice to the defense.

This case involves allegations that John Lattimore, a college student at UW-La Crosse, sexually assaulted two separate coed students approximately one month apart in the fall of 2010. Aside from involving the same defendant and same general time period, the incidents were factually dissimilar in virtually every respect. Both alleged assaults involved a consent defense, and as Wisconsin courts have found, one accuser's consent or lack thereof is irrelevant to whether the other accuser consented. Despite the lack of factual similarity, the trial court found the second sexual assault allegation admissible as other acts evidence at the trial of the first assault allegation, resulting in substantial prejudice to the defense. A published opinion by this court reaffirming the importance of factual similarity for other acts evidence espoused by *Sullivan* could halt the sprawling use of factually dissimilar other acts evidence that causes substantial and unwarranted prejudice to defendants at trial.

Second, the appellant believes publication would be appropriate because this identifies an issue of first impression, specifically whether Wisconsin must recognize a constitutional exception to the rape shield law for situations where an accuser's prior sexual history provides their motive to falsify evidence, as required by the US Supreme Court in *Olden v. Kentucky*, 488 U.S. 227 (1988) (per curiam). No published Wisconsin cases have addressed the application of Wisconsin's rape shield law in this context. Thus publication is appropriate pursuant to Wis. Stat. sec. 809.32(1)(a)2. Further, as this brief asks the court to modify Wisconsin's constitutional exception to the rape shield law to recognize the exception mandated by *Olden v. Kentucky*, publication is also warranted under Wis. Stat. sec. 809.32(1)(a)1, as it would be modifying an existing rule of law.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State filed a complaint on November 2, 2010, charging Lattimore with committing  $2^{nd}$  degree sexual assault with the use of force and false imprisonment against S.M. on September 18, 2010 (R3: 1-2). The complaint alleged Lattimore invited S.M. to his UW-La Crosse dorm room, and the two began kissing before Lattimore pinned S.M. to the bed with his arm and removed her jeans (R3: 1-2). S.M. claimed that Lattimore then had nonconsensual intercourse with her, while she unsuccessfully attempted to push him off (R3: 2).

The State subsequently amended the complaint by adding an allegation that on October 18, 2010, Lattimore committed 3<sup>rd</sup> degree sexual assault against M.H., another student at UW-La Crosse (R5: 1-2). The complaint described a four-day period where M.H. and Lattimore had consensual sexual contact, such as kissing and oral sex, at Lattimore's dorm, each ending with M.H. spending the night (R5: 2-3). M.H. alleged that Lattimore repeatedly attempted to have intercourse with her, but she refused and Lattimore desisted (R5: 2). M.H. alleged that on the final night, Lattimore forced her to have vaginal intercourse despite her protests (R5: 2).

Lattimore was bound over for trial after a preliminary hearing (R124).

Lattimore's trial counsel, Todd Schroeder, moved to sever the M.H. allegations from the S.M. allegations, arguing they were improperly joined (R27). The motion argued the allegations were not of the same or similar character because counts 1 and 2 involved an immediate forced rape of an acquaintance, over her unequivocal verbal and physical resistance, while count 3 involved a relationship where M.H. spent 3-4 nights with Lattimore and performed consensual sex acts on him multiple times before the allegedly nonconsensual intercourse (R27: 4-5). The motion argued joinder would cause Lattimore substantial prejudice because the jury would be left assessing Lattimore's credibility against two separate accusers (R27: 5-6). Further, the motion argued the allegations would not be admissible in as other acts in separate trials (R27: 6-10).

On March 14, 2011, the court ruled that joinder of the M.H. allegations with the S.M. allegations was improper. The court found the M.H. allegation would not be admissible as other acts because there was no acceptable purpose (R130: 20). Specifically, the court found that (1) intent was not an issue; (2) the 'motive' of having sex with many women was just a propensity argument; (3) the plan of taking these women to his dorm was not really a plan, it was just his residence; (4) identity was not an issue; (5) absence of mistake was not an issue because each alleged rape is unique (R130: 18-20). Further, the court found that any probative value was outweighed by prejudice (R130: 20).

The State subsequently filed an other acts motion<sup>1</sup> seeking to admit the M.H. allegations at trial on the S.M. allegations (R38). The State claimed the evidence was admissible for the purposes of proving motive and context, specifically Lattimore's "motive to sexually degrade, hurt and humiliate women," (R38: 8). A hearing was held on April 27, 2011. The court found the M.H. allegations admissible for the purposes of motive, opportunity, intent, plan, absence of mistake, and context (R133: 12-15). When attorney Schroeder requested clarification on how the other acts were admissible for motive, the court replied Lattimore's motive was "to try to achieve conquests" (R133: 17).

The defense moved to reconsider, and another motion

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The motion also sought to admit three other instances of Lattimore's alleged aggression toward other women. None of those allegations were admitted as evidence at trial.

hearing was held on May 9, 2011 (R135). The court upheld its prior ruling, stating the M.H. allegations were admissible for the purpose of showing "Lattimore's discretions toward women," (R135: 10). The court also found the evidence admissible for proving the use of force alleged in the S.M. incident (R135: 10). However, the court did not explain how the M.H. incident was relevant to use of force, considering force was not alleged in the M.H. allegations.

Since the court found the M.H. evidence admissible, the defense and State agreed that count 3 should be unsevered and tried jointly with counts 1 and 2 (R135: 12-14).

Jury trial was held from June 8-10, 2011. Lattimore was found guilty on counts 1 and 2 (S.M. allegations) and acquitted on count 3 (M.H. allegation) (R86). On August 31, 2011, the court sentenced Lattimore to six years initial confinement and six years extended supervision on count 1, and a consecutive sentence of one year initial confinement and two years extended supervision on count 2 (R94).

On September 12, 2012, Lattimore filed postconviction motions alleging (1) the court erroneously admitted character evidence regarding S.M., (2) trial counsel performed ineffectively by insufficiently objecting to the character evidence and failing to submit evidence that S.M. lied to a SANE nurse, and (3) the real controversy was not fully tried because of those errors (R105).

Following an evidentiary hearing and written briefs, the court issued a written decision denying the defendant's motions (R117). The court held that the evidence related to S.M.'s character or changes in her demeanor was probative to the issue of consent (R117: 5). The court found no ineffective assistance regarding attorney Schroeder's handling of this evidence, since Schroeder made multiple objections, and the court held the evidence was admissible anyway (R117: 9-10).

The court further found that attorney Schroeder did not perform deficiently for failing to submit evidence of S.M.'s lie to the SANE examiner regarding her sexual history because (1) counsel correctly determined it was barred by rape shield, and (2) counsel strategically chose not to raise the issue because it was factually dissimilar (R117: 12-14). Further, the court found no prejudice because it found a weak correlation between S.M.'s lie to the SANE examiner and the defense theory that S.M. lied about whether this incident was consensual (R117: 14-15). For the same reasons, the court found the real controversy was fully tried (R117: 15-19).

Lattimore filed a timely notice of appeal (R146).

# **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

# a. Allegations of S.M.

S.M. testified that she first knew Lattimore from high school, and saw him again at a college party, where she hugged and kissed him (R141: 61, 83-84). S.M. admitted that she was flirting with Lattimore that night, and she had been drinking (R141: 85). The next day they exchanged text messages, where S.M. apologized for being drunk, and Lattimore asked what would happen if they hung out (R141: 86, 92). S.M. replied they would have to "wait and see" (R141: 92).

On September 18<sup>th</sup>, at 10:00 pm, S.M. texted Lattimore to ask if they were going to meet up (R141: 92). Lattimore replied that he would meet her in his dormitory lobby (R141: 64). S.M. testified that once they went to his dorm room, Lattimore locked the door (R141: 65). S.M. and Lattimore engaged in consensual kissing on his bed (R141: 66).

According to S.M., when Lattimore tried kissing her again, she told him "no," but he got aggressive (R141: 67). S.M. said Lattimore pinned her down on the bed, and she tried unsuccessfully to get free (R141: 67-68). Lattimore didn't use a condom, and when S.M. told him she wasn't on birth control, Lattimore allegedly told her "that's what Plan B is for" (R141: 69). S.M. stated Lattimore removed her pants while simultaneously holding her down (R141: 108-09). S.M. testified Lattimore had no permission to restrain her or penetrate her (R141: 70). S.M. testified that she was telling Lattimore "no," and wasn't using a normal voice, but admitted she didn't yell anything and previously testified she said "no" in a normal voice (R141: 116-17). Lydia Caldwell testified that she spoke with S.M. shortly after the incident, and S.M. initially told her "I fooled around with John" (R142: 232). Caldwell admitted she gave a statement to police indicating S.M. told her "I did something really bad," specifically that she had sex with Lattimore (R142: 236-37). According to Caldwell, S.M. subsequently stated she "didn't want to," and that Lattimore became "aggressive" (R142: 232).

S.M's father Joel testified they received a call from S.M. around 2 am, at which point S.M. described being raped (R141: 180). Joel and Lori M., S.M.'s mother, drove to meet S.M. and took her to Meriter Hospital to get a SANE exam (R141: 180-81).

SANE nurse Susan Liddle examined S.M., and observed a tear down S.M.'s posterior fourchette and redness to the labia, which she believed was consistent with blunt force trauma (R142: 141-42). Liddle believed her physical findings were "consistent" with S.M.'s account of sexual assault (R142: 151-52). However, Liddle admitted that injuries to the posterior fourchette and redness could both be consistent with consensual sex (R142: 152, 159).

Dr. Therese Zink, a physician at the University of Minnesota, testified that sexual assault studies showed injuries occurred during consensual sex 55% of the time, including tears (R142: 176, 180). Zink reviewed the SANE exam findings and explained that redness to the labia demonstrates only that there's been friction (R142: 189). Zink concluded that the presence of a tear cannot distinguish between consensual or nonconsensual intercourse – just that it is consistent with intercourse (R142: 190).

S.M. testified that the day after the alleged assault, she spoke to Officer Miller about the allegation, but did not report than an assault occurred (R141: 79). S.M. testified she didn't confirm the allegation out of shame and embarrassment (R141: 79). On October 27, 2010, nearly six weeks after the alleged assault, S.M. reported to Officer Miller that Lattimore had assaulted her (R141: 80). S.M. told Officer Miller that Lattimore had asked to meet up with her, but failed to

mention any of the texts S.M. sent to Lattimore about meeting up (R141: 112-13). Further, S.M. didn't mention anything about the fact that she kissed, hugged, and flirted with Lattimore previously (R141: 133-34). S.M. made this report five days after learning that Lattimore claimed he was getting S.M.'s brother Josh banned from campus for sending Lattimore a threat on Facebook (R141: 132) (see section II, *infra*).

#### b. Allegations of M.H.

Although the jury found Lattimore not guilty of assaulting M.H., her testimony will be summarized as it pertains to whether it should have been admissible as other acts.

M.H. met Lattimore at a sub shop on campus, after which they began talking and exchanged phone numbers (R141: 201-02). She and Lattimore spent three nights together; no intercourse occurred on their first night together, but they "cuddled" together and were "making out" (R142: 13-14, 30). The next morning, when Lattimore tried to have intercourse with her, M.H. said no, and Lattimore did not force her (R142: 14). M.H. admitted that she and Lattimore kissed and she performed oral sex on him (R142: 37). That night, M.H. again performed oral sex on Lattimore (R142: 15). Lattimore attempted to have anal intercourse with M.H., but she asked him to stop, and he stopped and they continued to kiss (R142: 15). M.H. testified that the next morning, Lattimore again wanted sex, but M.H. refused and Lattimore again desisted (R142: 16).

On their third night, M.H. watched a movie with Lattimore and his roommates before going into Lattimore's bedroom, laying on his bed, and kissing him (R142: 43-44). M.H. claimed Lattimore then had nonconsensual intercourse with her despite telling him she didn't want to (R141: 224). M.H. claimed it was "uncomfortable" but didn't tell Lattimore that it hurt (R142: 45). Despite allegedly being raped, M.H. admitted that she and Lattimore had "a little morning sex" the next morning (R142: 49). Later that day M.H. sent text messages asking Lattimore what happened between him and M.H.'s friend Angela, as well as telling Lattimore things were moving too fast and that he didn't respect what M.H. wanted (R142: 52).

#### c. Testimony of Lattimore

John Lattimore testified that the day after S.M. flirted with him at the party, they began texting about meeting up (R143: 44-45, 51-53). Lattimore tried to meet S.M. somewhere other than his room, but she suggested his dorm (R143: 54-55). Lattimore testified that he and S.M. went into his bedroom and began kissing on the bed, at which point they each removed their shirts (R143: 56-57). S.M. performed oral sex on him, after which they had intercourse for a couple minutes (R143: 57-58). Lattimore admitted that when S.M. told him she wasn't on birth control, Lattimore stated "that's what Plan B is for" (R143: 58). According to Lattimore, after they had sex, S.M. wasn't in a good mood anymore (R143: 59). Lattimore denied holding S.M. down or doing anything against her will (R143: 67).

Lattimore testified that the first night he and M.H. hung out, she performed oral sex on him at his dorm (R143: 73). They did not have intercourse because M.H. was on her period (R143: 74). The next day M.H. texted him to say she was "thinking about him," and they again spent the night at his dorm (R143: 76). More sexual contact occurred that night, as well as the following morning (R143: 79-80). Lattimore confirmed that during these incidents, M.H. was never forced to do anything sexual (R143: 80). Lattimore testified that on their third night he and M.H. went to the Cellar with his roommate, and then took food back to the dorm (R143: 83). Lattimore testified he and M.H. had sexual intercourse, and after M.H. again spent the night, they had sex again in the morning (R143: 84-85). M.H. subsequently sent a text message asking what happened between him and Angela, after which M.H. broke up with him (R143: 85).

Additional facts will be provided where needed.

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY

# ALLOWED OTHER ACTS EVIDENCE OF A SECOND SEXUAL ASSAULT ALLEGATION THAT SERVED NO REAL PURPOSE OTHER THAN DEMONSTRATING PROPENSITY TO COMMIT SEXUAL ASSAULT

#### A. Standard of Review

Lattimore submits that the evidence regarding M.H. (count 3) was not admissible as other acts evidence at the trial regarding the S.M. allegations because only real purpose was to show propensity. Admission of this evidence improperly forced Lattimore to defend not just against the individual allegations, but against the inference that he was a serial rapist.

Appellate courts review a trial court's decision on whether to admit other acts evidence for whether the trial court erroneously exercised its discretion. *State v. Hunt*, 2003 WI 81, ¶34, 263 Wis. 2d 1, 666 N.W.2d 771. Whether the admission of evidence meets statutory requirements is a question of law subject to de novo review. *State v. Doss*, 2008 WI 93, ¶20, 312 Wis. 2d 570, 754 N.W.2d 150.

B. Since Consent was the Only Issue at Trial, Allegations that Lattimore Assaulted M.H. Were Not Admitted for a Permissible Purpose, and Constituted Improper Propensity Evidence

Other acts evidence "is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show that the person acted in conformity therewith." Wis. Stat. sec. 904.04(2)(a). Other acts evidence may be admissible if it is offered for non-character-inference purposes such as to prove motive, opportunity, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident. *See id.* Other acts evidence must also be relevant, and the danger of unfair prejudice must not substantially outweigh the probative value of the proffered evidence. *See Sullivan*, 216 Wis. 2d at 772. The proponent of the evidence bears the burden of persuading the court that these three elements are satisfied. *Id.* at 774.

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