RECEIVED

03-10-2014

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS C O U R T $\,$ O F $\,$ A P P E A L OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2013AP911-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JOHN M. LATTIMORE,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE LA CROSSE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE TODD W. BJERKE, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

JEFFREY J. KASSEL Assistant Attorney General State Bar No. 1009170

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Given the nature of the arguments raised in the brief of defendant-appellant John M. Lattimore, the State exercises its option not to present a statement of the case. See Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.19(3)(a). The relevant facts and procedural history will be discussed in the argument section of this brief.

ARGUMENT

Lattimore was charged with second-degree sexual assault of S.M., false imprisonment of S.M., and third-degree sexual assault of M.H. (5:1; 8:1). He was convicted following a jury trial of sexually assaulting and falsely imprisoning S.M. and acquitted of sexually assaulting M.H. (86:1-3; 94:1).

Lattimore argues on appeal that the court erroneously admitted other acts evidence of his alleged sexual assault of M.H., that the court erroneously excluded evidence of a threatening Facebook message that S.M.'s brother sent to Lattimore, that the court erroneously admitted evidence of S.M.'s character, that his trial counsel was ineffective, and that he is entitled to a new trial in the interest of justice. Because Lattimore is not entitled to relief on any of his claims, the court should affirm the judgment of conviction and the order denying postconviction relief.

T. EVIDENCE OF LATTIMORE'S ALLEGED SEXUAL ASSAULT OF M.H. WAS NOT OTHER ACTS **EVIDENCE** BECAUSE THE CHARGE THAT LATTIMORE ASSAULTED M.H. WAS JOINED FOR TRIAL WITH THE CHARGE THAT HESEXUALLY ASSAULTED S.M.

Lattimore argues that the trial court admitted other erroneously acts evidence regarding his alleged sexual assault of M.H. See Lattimore's brief at 16-23. The flaw in that argument isthat the evidence regarding Lattimore's sexual assault was not admitted at trial as other acts evidence. That is because the trial court, after ruling that the M.H. evidence would be admissible as other acts evidence at the S.M. trial, reversed its prior ruling severing the counts relating to S.M. from the count relating to M.H. (130:19-20; 135:9-12; A-Ap. 10-13). Once the court determined that the charges relating to S.M. and M.H. would be tried jointly, the evidence of Lattimore's conduct towards M.H. was not other acts evidence but was evidence of the charged sexual assault against M.H.

Lattimore does not argue that the charges were improperly joined. Although he moved the trial court to sever the cases, a motion that the court initially granted, he does not argue on appeal that the trial court erred by rejoining the cases.

Several months after a criminal complaint was filed alleging that Lattimore sexually assaulted and falsely imprisoned S.M., the State filed an amended complaint that added a third count that Lattimore sexually assaulted M.H. (3:1; 5:1). Lattimore moved to sever the S.M.-related counts from the M.H. count (27:1-10), and the court granted that motion (130:19-20).

The State subsequently moved to admit other acts evidence relating to M.H. and three other women at the trial on the S.M.-related charges (38:1-5). At a hearing on that motion, the court granted the State's request with respect to the M.H.-related evidence (135:10-11; A-Ap. 11-12). The court then asked defense counsel whether he "want[ed] to have Count 3 unsevered" (135:12; A-Ap. 13). Counsel responded, "[w]e see no basis to sever them if you are allowing that evidence in" (id.).

Because defense counsel acquiesced in rejoining the charges only because the court had granted the State's motion to admit the other acts evidence, which Lattimore opposed (135:2-6), the State will not argue that Lattimore forfeited his objection to rejoining the charges. But after the charges were joined for trial, the evidence of Lattimore's conduct towards M.H. was not other acts evidence but evidence of the crime of sexually assaulting M.H. that was before the jury. Accordingly, Lattimore's objection to the other acts ruling was rendered moot by the rejoinder of the cases. His only potential appellate issue is whether the M.H. charge was properly joined with the S.M.-related charges.

Although Lattimore objected to joinder in the circuit court, he has not done so on appeal. Accordingly, he has abandoned his claim that the cases were not properly joined. See A.O. Smith Corp. v. Allstate Ins. Co., 222 Wis. 2d 475, 491, 588 N.W.2d 285 (Ct. App. 1998) ("an issue raised in the trial court, but not raised on appeal, is deemed abandoned").

II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXCLUDED THE FACEBOOK MESSAGE.

Lattimore argues that the trial court erred when it ruled that he could not introduce the content of a message that S.M.'s brother Josh sent to Lattimore via Facebook. The court ruled that the message was not relevant (135:24; 137:9; 139:16; A-Ap. 16, 23) and that the message was hearsay, at least with respect to Lattimore's statements in the exchange of messages with Josh (138:14-15).

Although it excluded the message itself, the court allowed the defense to ask any witness if that witness had actual knowledge of threats towards Lattimore (137:15; A-Ap. 22). The court explained that the defense "may -- depending on how they found out about it, . . . it may not be something where they can actually testify about the nature of the threat, but if that's what led up to [Lattimore] hiring an attorney, and S.M. knew that an attorney was hired, and whether her brother was gonna get kicked out of school or that's what the attorney could have sought or whatever that is, and she knew about that -- . . . that's what you need to show for your motive on that side" (id.).

Lattimore argues on appeal that the Facebook threat was not hearsay because it was not asserted for the truth of the matter but "was offered to show how it motivated the chain of events that led to S.M. reporting the assault to the police." Lattimore's brief at 26. The State agrees with that contention. See State v. Kutz, 2003 WI App 205, ¶36, 267 Wis. 2d 531, 671 N.W.2d 660. But the State also agrees with the trial court's ruling that the content of the Facebook message was not relevant.

Lattimore argues that the content of the threat was relevant because "[i]t explained why Lattimore did not contact S.M. after the night in question, why he asked [S.M.'s friend] Amber Schade about the threat, and why he told Schade he was taking legal action against Josh." Lattimore's brief at 27. However, that sentence is the full extent of Lattimore's discussion on those points. Because this court does not consider undeveloped arguments, see State v. Flynn, 190 Wis. 2d 31, 58, 527 N.W.2d 343 (Ct. App. 1994), the State will not attempt to respond.

Lattimore's principle argument regarding the relevance of the Facebook threat is that it "explain[ed] S.M.'s motive for reporting the allegation to police." Lattimore's brief at 26 (capitalization omitted). He articulates his theory of relevancy as follows:

Most importantly, it provided a reason for S.M. to be concerned that legal action would be taken against Josh. This, in turn, provided S.M. motive to falsely tell police Lattimore raped her, which she did five days after learning Lattimore was supposedly getting Josh banned from campus. Since S.M.'s motive to lie is clearly a fact "of consequence

to the determination of the action," the Facebook threat was relevant.

Id. at 27 (citing Wis. Stat. § 904.01).

The problem with Lattimore's argument is that the actual language of the threat would be relevant only if S.M. were aware of that language. There is nothing in the record, however, that establishes that S.M. had any knowledge of the threatening language in the Facebook message.

S.M. testified on cross-examination that she had not seen the actual message (141:148). She testified that when her parents told her about the message about a week after the incident (141:149), they said that her brother "sent John a message through Facebook saying that it was not consensual and that, you know, if you try to contact S[.], that like the police would get involved" (141:148). Defense counsel then asked S.M., "They didn't say anything about that it would be dangerous for Mr. Lattimore's health; they didn't say that he threatened Mr. Lattimore?" (141:148-49). S.M. answered, "No" (141:149).

Moreover, as Lattimore acknowledges, *see* Lattimore's brief at 24, the court allowed witnesses to testify regarding their knowledge of the Facebook threat (137:15; A-Ap. 22). In his cross-examination of S.M., defense counsel elicited testimony from S.M. that she learned about the threat five days before she reported the assault to the police.

Q What about Amber Schade, did she talk to you about anything involving her communication with Mr. Lattimore?

- A Yes, it was -- I don't remember the exact date, but yes, she did.
- Q Sometime around October 22nd, I assume?
- A Correct.
- Q She said that -- that John Lattimore was saying that you were lying, right?
- A Correct.
- Q She said John Lattimore was saying that -- asked about the threat he received from your brother. She said that to you, right?
- A Correct.
- Q She said John Lattimore said that your brother may be banned from UW-L campus, right?
- A It wasn't phrased that way, but correct.
- Q Sure, but she said he talked to an attorney?
- A Correct.
- Q You had contact with your parents after that, correct?
- A Correct.
- Q Five days later you made a report to UW-L police, correct?
- A Correct.
- Q Five weeks after being in the dorm room with Mr. Lattimore?
- A Correct.

(141:132.)

Lattimore argues that "the content of Josh's message was relevant to S.M.'s state of mind and whether Lattimore's threat of legal action actually gave cause for concern, and therefore motive to lie." Lattimore's brief at 27. But the content of the message was relevant to S.M.'s state of mind only to the extent that she was aware of the content. There is no evidence in the record that S.M. saw the message. To the contrary, S.M. testified that she had not (141:148). Lattimore was able to present, through his cross-examination of S.M., evidence about what S.M. actually knew about the message.

Lattimore also argues that the jury should have been informed of the content of the message because S.M.'s mother testified that "[a]ll the Facebook message was as a brother was saving. please do not have any contact with . . . his sister, and if he did - all he wanted was for him to stav away from her" (141:195). He contends that that testimony "completely mischaracterized message" and that "the jury was left with the completely incorrect impression that the 'Facebook threat' contained no actual threat." Lattimore's brief at 28. He argues that "[i]n the absence of any actual threat, the jury wouldn't find credible the claim that S.M. had reason to believe Lattimore could get Josh banned from campus. If Lattimore's statement was not a credible threat, then the motive to fabricate is not credible either." *Id*.

Once again, that argument founders on the lack of any evidence that S.M. had knowledge of the actual content of the Facebook message. Lattimore contends that the message was necessary to demonstrate that S.M. found credible Lattimore's threat to get her brother banned from campus. Demonstrating that, he says, requires

proof that her brother's Facebook threat to Lattimore itself was a credible threat. But Lattimore's theory of relevance requires one additional step – that S.M. knew that her brother had made a credible threat against Lattimore. That is where Lattimore's theory of relevance falls apart, because there is no evidence that S.M. saw the actual message or that she knew anything more about the Facebook message than what she testified that her parents and her friend told her about it.

III. THE COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT ADMITTED EVIDENCE OF A CHANGE IN THE VICTIM'S DEMEANOR.

Lattimore next argues that the trial court erroneously exercised its discretion when it admitted evidence about S.M.'s personality and character before and after the sexual assault. He argues that the evidence was irrelevant under *State v. Jacobs*, 2012 WI App 104, 344 Wis. 2d 142, 822 N.W.2d 885.

In *Jacobs*, the defendant was charged with homicide by use of a vehicle while operating with a prohibited blood alcohol concentration and with a detectable amount of a restricted controlled substance in his blood. *Id.*, ¶11. The State called as a witness the victim's mother, who was not present at the scene of the accident, who testified about the victim's childhood, employment, and history of helping out on the family farm, about his long-term relationship with his wife, his high school sweetheart, whom he had married just a month before his death, and that since his death

the family had been forced to close down one of its barns. *Id.*, 12.

Jacobs argued that his lawyer was ineffective for failing to object to that evidence. *Id.*, ¶25. The court declined to determine whether counsel performed deficiently because it determined that Jacobs was not prejudiced by the evidence. *Id.*, ¶¶28-33. However, the court did hold that the mother's testimony was inadmissible because it did not make more or less probable the facts needed to convict Jacobs of the charged offense. *Id.*, ¶26.

In this case, the trial court found that evidence of a change in S.M.'s demeanor following the incident was relevant to a fact at issue — indeed, the central fact at issue — whether S.M. consented to sexual intercourse with Lattimore. The court explained:

The "character" testimony elicited during trial was limited to changes in the victim's demeanor after the alleged assault occurred. The Court finds that this evidence was directly relevant to the central issue in the case, consent. Wisconsin Criminal Jury Instruction 1208, Second Degree Sexual Assault defines "did not consent" as follows"

"Did not consent" means that (name of victim) did not freely agree to have sexual [contact] [intercourse] with defendant. In deciding whether (name of victim) did consent, you should consider what (name of victim) said and did, along with all the other facts and circumstances. This element does not require that victim) (name ofoffered physical resistance.

(emphasis added). In other words, consent is viewed under the totality of the circumstances.

Since there were no direct witnesses to the issue of consent, other than Lattimore and the victim, any extrinsic evidence on this issue is relevant and highly probative. Evidence of a significant change in the victim's demeanor – from "high spirited" and "fun loving" (JT1: 193) to "scared" and "untrustworthy [sic] of others (JT1: 183) – would tend to support the victim's claim that she was raped and would undermine the defense theory that she merely regretted her decision to have consensual intercourse.

(117:5; A-Ap. 33.)

The circuit court distinguished this case from Jacobs. It noted that in Jacobs, the court of appeals determined that the character of the victim was irrelevant because it made no element of the crime of vehicular homicide more or less probable (117:5-6; A-Ap. 33-34). The circuit court said that "[w]hile that may be true for vehicular homicide, a change in the victim's demeanor in a rape case is very relevant to the element of consent" (117:6; A-Ap. 34). The court explained that "[t]estimony regarding a victim's change in demeanor after an alleged assault is highly relevant, because the issue of consent must be determined, in part, upon the totality of the circumstances presented to the trier of fact. This demeanor evidence, if believed by the jury, corroborates her testimony that she suffered a traumatic event, just as would medical evidence of a physical injury, and therefore it is probative of the issue of consent" (id.).

Lattimore's argument why he believes the evidence was irrelevant does not acknowledge,

much less attempt to refute, the circuit court's reasoning. An appellant's failure to refute the grounds of the trial court's ruling is a concession of the validity of those grounds. *See Schlieper v. DNR*, 188 Wis. 2d 318, 322, 525 N.W.2d 99 (Ct. App. 1994).

Moreover, the circuit court's explanation of why the evidence of S.M.'s change in demeanor was relevant was eminently reasonable. According to S.M.'s version of events, she was forcibly sexually assaulted. According to Lattimore, S.M. and he had consensual sex and S.M. subsequently decided to falsely accuse him because she regretted her decision. As the trial court correctly observed, evidence that S.M.'s character changed from being high spirited and fun loving to being scared and untrusting of others is probative of the fact that S.M. experienced a significant traumatic event rather than merely regretting her decision to have consensual sex. Because the evidence of S.M.'s change in demeanor related to an element of the offense – S.M.'s non-consent – and made that element more probable, the evidence was relevant. See Wis. Stat. § 904.01; State v. Davidson, 2000 WI 91, ¶94, 236 Wis. 2d 537, 613 N.W.2d 606.

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